RECEIVED

Dec 09 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County

Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTONE B. ELLIS TREMAYNE BLAKELY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000721

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by admitting hearsay statements of Byrd from a phone call with his uncle under the excited utterance exception despite evidence indicating reflective thought where Byrd implicated Appellant in a recent assault after already having left the alleged incident site, and where Byrd requested his uncle to come get him and to bring him a firearm?

II.

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by admitting three autopsy photographs in Appellant's trial for murder and second-degree assault and battery by mob?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Antone B. Ellis Tremayne Blakely was indicted by the Laurens County grand jury for second-degree assault and battery by mob, kidnapping, criminal conspiracy, armed robbery, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and murder. The charges stemmed from his alleged involvement in events occurring on the night of January 22, 2021. R. 7, ll. 12—R. 10, ln. 3; R. 618-627.

An immunity hearing was held on February 6, 2023, before the Honorable Donald L. Hocker from April 18th through 21st, 2023. Appellant was represented by Matt Ozment, while the State was represented by David Stumbo and Josh Thomas. R. 1. The trial court denied Appellant's motion for immunity from prosecution, and his case proceeded to jury trial from April 18th through 21st, 2023. R. 5; R. 2-4.

The jury found Appellant guilty of murder, kidnapping, possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime, criminal conspiracy, and third-degree assault and battery by mob as a lesser included offense.¹ R. 609, ln. 14—R. 610, ln. 4. The trial court imposed the following sentences: forty (40) years for murder; twenty-five (25) years for kidnapping; five (5) years for criminal conspiracy; five (5) years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime; and time served for third-degree assault and battery by mob. Appellant was given 820 days credit for time served. R. 616, ll. 6-15; R. 628-637.

¹ The trial court granted Appellant's directed verdict motion on the charge of armed robbery. R. 453, ll. 1-15.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 22, 2021, Jarius Byrd (Byrd) stayed in the apartment of Shameia Workman (Workman) within the Spring Street apartment projects in Laurens, South Carolina. The mother of Appellant's child lived in the apartment next door to Workman, and he was regularly present. R. 493, ln. 19—R. 495, ln. 6. Workman had left sometime between 4:00 pm to 5:00 pm to go to a birthday party at another apartment nearby, but was called by Nikki West later that night to come back because Byrd had been beaten up. R. 496, ln. 2—R. 497, ln. 22. While Workman was gone, Byrd had been beaten by Marcus Grant (Marcus) in his bedroom while getting ready for work. According to Marcus, it was because Byrd was a confidential informant in a case against him about a decade prior which led to his incarceration. On the way to Club Epic in Mauldin, he stopped the car with his brother Warren Grant, and his cousin Travis Evans. He got out of the car alone, went into Byrd's room inside the apartment, and beat Byrd while he was on the bed. He then left and continued to the club. R. 45, ln. 12—R. 46, ln. 25; R. 455, ln. 20—R. 457, ln. 24; R. 460, ln. 21—R. 461, ln. 18; R. 465, ln. 11—R. 469, ln. 6. Further, according to Marcus, Appellant was not present either in the room or at the apartment when Byrd was beaten. R. 474, ll. 1-6.

Upon Workman's return to her apartment, she spoke with Byrd outside.² He appeared to have been in a fight. Workman went inside her apartment and saw people playing cards. When nobody would tell her what occurred, she kicked everyone out. However, Appellant was outside at the time, and she allowed him to come inside. R. 499, ln. 12—R. 501, ln. 7; R. 515, ll. 9-14.

² According to testimony, "lots" of people were outside on both sides of the street that night. R. 79, ll. 16-17; R. 83, ln. 6—R. 84, ln. 4; R. 500, ll. 11-12.

Meanwhile, Byrd had walked across the street to the apartment of his cousin Markee Brown (Brown), while calling his uncle David Little (Little). Byrd told Little that Appellant, Marcus, Shykorie Grant³ (Shykorie), and one other purportedly came into Byrd's bedroom, locked the door, and held Byrd at gunpoint while he was beaten.⁴ He asked Little to come and get him, and to bring him something to protect himself, which Little knew meant to bring guns. R. 67, ln. 15—R. 68, ln. 23; R. 77, ll. 1-11. Little arrived in his corvette approximately 10 to 15 minutes later with his wife and parked in front of Brown's apartment. Little opened the trunk, and showed Byrd the three firearms therein: a .22 caliber revolver; a .357 revolver; and an AK-47. After speaking with Little for 10 to 20 minutes on the sidewalk, Byrd selected the .22 caliber revolver despite Little's suggestion that he take the AK-47.⁵ When cautioned not to go back to the apartment, Byrd told Little that he "ain't no punk." R. 70, ll. 7-24; R. 71, ln. 20; R. 75, ln. 17—79, ln. 25.

Workman had already walked from her apartment across the street as well. About five to ten minutes after Workman had kicked people out of her apartment, Little left in his car with his wife. R. 502, ll. 3-22. At approximately 9:00 pm, Byrd walked back toward Workman's

³ Although they share the same last name, Marcus Grant and Shykorie Grant are not related. R. 455 ll. 4-8.

⁴ Shykorie also purportedly stopped at Brown's apartment to buy candy and a soda shortly after the alleged assault, but before Byrd came across the street. Brown indicated Shykorie told him that his cousin got jumped by people including Swann, Appellant, and Marcus. R. 180, ln. 17—R. 181, ln. 8. Jaquetrica Putnam, Byrd's girlfriend at the time, also indicated that she spoke with Shykorie a couple days after the incident, and Shykorie relayed a similar version of events to her, but Appellant was not named as one of the assailants. R. 167, ll. 13-22; R. 171, ln. 8—R. 177, ln. 4.

⁵ Although Little admittedly was not allowed to possess firearms, he was not charged. R. 81, ll. 10-11; R. 390, ll. 15-25. Little made this suggestion when he allegedly saw Appellant standing on Workman's apartment porch with a gun in his waistband.

apartment with Workman following behind. Once on the porch and standing in the doorway, Byrd pulled the gun from his waistband and told Appellant, “Say that shit again.” Workman was surprised at this, and Appellant was just as shocked. Workman saw Appellant reach for something as well, and ran off the porch; a second later she heard two to three shots. R. 182, ll. 9-20; R. 324, ln. 15—R. 325, ln. 1; R. 503, ln. 10—R. 505, ln. 10; R. 506, ll. 3-8. She ran to the side, fell by a dumpster, and saw Byrd do the same behind her. Workman then got back up and continued to run while hearing more shots fired. R. 505, ln. 16—R. 508, ln. 15. However, while Byrd was still laying on the street, Deandre Hakeem Lee (Lee) stood over him and fired two shots. R. 388, ln. 6—389, ln. 14. Notably, Appellant was neither seen coming outside to the front of the apartment, nor shooting a firearm outside. R. 194, ll. 8-19.

Police were called and arrived soon after. R. 21, ln. 19—R. 23, ln. 16. Byrd was taken by EMS to the hospital where he succumbed to his wounds—he was shot in his lower right chest, his left buttock, and his right big toe, in addition to a graze on his right leg. R. 27, ln. 11—R. 28, ln. 20; R. 218, ln. 8—R. 225, ln. 6; R. 236, ln. 14—R. 237, ln. 6.

An agent from the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) processed the scene outside, and recovered multiple shell casings in both 9mm and .40 caliber. R. 108, ll. 1-16; 20-25. Two handguns—a Taurus 9mm with Appellant’s DNA on it, and a Glock 22 in .40 caliber—were also recovered next to a fence nearby.⁶ R. 131, ln. 24—R. 132, ln. 17; R. 159, ll. 5-19. Appellant and others were eventually charged in the case. R. 396, ln. 4—R. 398, ln. 17.

Appellant’s case proceeded to jury trial from April 18th through 21st, 2023. R. 5; R. 2-4. He was found guilty of murder, kidnapping, possession of a weapon during commission of a

⁶ None of the 30 shell casings collected and submitted to SLED were examined because the State did not request analysis of them. Therefore it was not determined whether any were fired by either of the two handguns collected. R. 426, ln. 25—R. 428, ln. 15; R. 429, ll. 12-17.

violent crime, criminal conspiracy, and third-degree assault and battery by mob. R. 609, ln. 14—
R. 610, ln. 4. The trial court imposed an overall prison term of forty (40) years, and 820 days
credit was given for time served. R. 616, ll. 6-15; R. 628-637.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court reversibly erred by admitting hearsay statements of Byrd from a phone call with his uncle under the excited utterance exception despite evidence indicating reflective thought where Byrd implicated Appellant in a recent assault after already having left the alleged incident site, and where Byrd requested his uncle to come get him and to bring him a firearm.**

The trial court erred by permitting the hearsay statement of Byrd to Little regarding Appellant's alleged participation in the assault. By the time the call was made, Byrd had left the apartment, and had the mental wherewithal to form a plan of action: he called Little specifically asking to come pick him up, but also to bring "protection," which Little knew to mean firearms. Thus, Byrd's hearsay statement itself reveals that his thought process for reflective thought was not suspended, and the trial court erred in admitting it under the excited utterance exception.

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 123, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008) (citing State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). "A ruling on the admissibility of the evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion." Id. 379 S.C. 123-24, 665 S.E.2d at 604 (citing State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000)). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law." Id.

"Hearsay" is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at trial, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." Rule 801(c), SCRE. Generally, hearsay is inadmissible. Rule 802, SCRE. An exception to the rule against hearsay is an excited utterance. An excited utterance is defined under the South Carolina Rules of Evidence as "a statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." Rule 803(2), SCRE.

“Three elements must be met in order for a statement to be an excited utterance: (1) the statement must relate to a startling event or condition; (2) the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement; and (3) the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition.” State v. Washington, 379 S.C. 120, 124, 665 S.E.2d 602, 604 (2008) (citing State v. Ladner, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007)). Importantly, “[t]he rationale underlying the excited utterance exception is that ‘the startling event suspends the declarant’s process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication.’” State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 178, 638 S.E.2d 57, 62 (2006) (quoting State v. Dennis, 337 S.C. 275, 284, 523 S.E.2d 173, 177 (1999) abrogated in part by Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1254, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004)). “[T]he intrinsic reliability of an excited utterance derives from the statement’s spontaneity which is determined by the totality of the circumstances surrounding the statement when it was uttered.” State v. Prather, 429 S.C. 583, 611, 840 S.E.2d 551, 566 (2020) (citing Ladner, 373 S.C. at 119-20, 644 S.E.2d at 693). Further, “the burden of establishing the facts which qualify a statement as an excited utterance rests with the proponent of the evidence.” State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 178–79, 638 S.E.2d 57, 62 (2006) (quoting 31A C.J.S. Evidence § 359 (1996)).

In the case at bar, Byrd’s statement undoubtedly qualifies as hearsay. It was an out of court statement offered by the government for the truth of the matter asserted. R. 67, ln. 15—R. 68, ln. 23; R. 77, ll. 1-11. As such it is inadmissible unless an exception properly applies. See Rules 801 and 802, SCRE. Yet, when the three elements required for invocation of the excited utterance exception are applied to the present facts, the statement fails to clear the hurdle of the second element: it was not “made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement.” Washington, 379 S.C. at 124, 665 S.E.2d at 604.

Here, the evidence shows that Byrd made the statement to Little while in full capacity of processing reflective thought. Even if Byrd was indeed assaulted—by Marcus alone or others—he was able to collect himself and his thoughts enough to: (1) leave the premises where he was purportedly assaulted; (2) find his cellular phone; (3) dial Mr. Little; (4) inform Little of his desire to leave and request a ride to carry out such a plan; and (5) request that Little bring him a firearm. Under such factual circumstances, Byrd’s statement reflects the process of rational, reflective thought, and the “intrinsic reliability” justifying the exception is not present. Davis, 371 S.C. at 178, 638 S.E.2d at 62; Prather, 429 S.C. at 611, 840 S.E.2d at 566. Accordingly, the trial court erred in admitting Byrd’s hearsay statement. Rule 802, SCRE.

II. The trial court reversibly erred by admitting three autopsy photographs in Appellant's trial for murder and second-degree assault and battery by mob.

Appellant asserts the trial court reversibly erred by permitting the State to use three close-up black and white photographs depicting Byrd's gunshot wounds. Despite the State's claim that the photographs were necessary to refute self-defense, the information contained in the photographs were neither relevant nor necessary to any disputed issue at trial. Moreover, any probative information pertaining to Byrd's gunshot wounds was previously gleaned from the pathologist's testimony on the matter. As such, the trial court erred by admitting them over Appellant's objections on the basis that they were less gruesome due to being black and white, that the State was limited "down to three photographs," and that there was "enough probative value to outweigh any sort of prejudicial effect." R. 293, ln. 12-1-R. 300, ln. 6; R. 301, ll. 5—R. 302, ln. 15; State's exhibit # 130A; State's exhibit # 132A; State's exhibit # 134A. Rather, they were irrelevant or unnecessary to substantiate material facts or conditions. As a result, their probative value was substantially outweighed by prejudicial effect.

"In criminal cases, an appellate court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous." State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007) (citing State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). "A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice." State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 288, 350 S.E.2d 180 (1986). "The relevancy and materiality of a photograph is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge." State v. Edwards, 194 S.C. 410, 10 S.E.2d 587, 588 (1940).

"Although photographs may be used to corroborate other evidence, it is well established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be

excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial.” State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (internal citations omitted) (reversing and remanding where the information contained in the photographs was not really at issue, and other testimony negated any arguable evidentiary value of the photographs); see State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) (agreeing with the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); State v. Waitus, 224 S.C. 12, 77 S.E.2d 256, 263 (1953); State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 483, 688 S.E.2d 857, 862 (Ct. App. 2010) (agreeing with the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); see also Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence); Rule 402, SCRE (prohibiting admission of irrelevant evidence). Stated differently, “[p]hotographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded *if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.*” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) (emphasis added). Moreover, “[i]n the *guilt* phase of a trial, photographs of the murder victims should be excluded where the facts they are intended to show have been fully established by competent testimony.” Kornahrens, 290 S.C. at 288-89, 350 S.E.2d at 185 (emphasis in original) (citing Waitus, 224 S.C. at 12, 77 S.E.2d at 256).

Additionally, Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence allows for even relevant evidence to be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 370 (1995) (“It is well settled that evidence should be excluded when its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.”). In order to constitute unfair prejudice, “the photographs must create a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, although not necessarily, an emotional one.” Kelley, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991)).