RECEIVED

Dec 09 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County
The Honorable Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ANTONE B. ELLIS TREMAYNE BLAKELY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000721

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

W. JOSEPH MAYE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100851
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit
Post Office Box 516

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

“The rationale behind the excited utterance exception is that the startling event suspends the declarant's process of reflective thought, reducing the likelihood of fabrication. In determining whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception, a court must consider the totality of the circumstances. Additionally, such a determination is left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Sims*, 348 S.C. 16, 20–21, 558 S.E.2d 518, 521 (2002) (internal citations omitted). In evaluating whether a hearsay qualifies as an excited utterance, three elements must be satisfied. “First, the statement must relate to the startling event or condition. Second, the statement must have been made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement. Third, the stress of excitement must be caused by the startling event or condition.” *Id.* (citing Rule 803(2), SCRE). Additionally, a number of factors can be weighed in considering whether the statement was made “under the stress of excitement.” *Id.*

At trial, Appellant raised objection at the outset of Mr. Little's hearsay testimony. Questioning for purposes of establishing the elements began, and ultimately the trial court had Mr. Little proffer the testimony he would give as it related to the elements of the excited utterance exception. The first and third elements were met with little to no dispute. Victim had just received a beating from four men. He was upset, scared, and in pain as a result of that event, and he was calling Mr. Little to tell him of the attack. The startling event for Victim was being “jumped” or

otherwise beaten by these men and the stress and excitement experienced by Victim was a result thereof. (R. p. 51-52).

Contrary to Appellant's arguments, the second element was also well satisfied. Mr. Little's testimony demonstrated that the assault on Victim had just occurred prior to Victim's phone call. The record therefore establishes an extremely short timeframe between the exciting event and the statement made under the stress of that event. At the questioning of the trial court, the record further supports the second element by demonstrating that Mr. Little was able to hear Victim and described his demeanor as "very upset", "hurting," and "very frightened" by what had just happened. (R. p. 52, lines 9-17).

As arguments continued, the trial court appropriately excused the jury in order to conduct a more thorough proffer of Mr. Little's testimony. Thereafter, Mr. Little testified that he could hear it in Victim's voice that he was scared and upset. He further noted that there was no hesitancy in Victim revealing what had just occurred. (R. p. 57; 52). The trial court then took a brief recess to review the law. When he returned, he asked further questions of Mr. Little to clarify his testimony. That clarification demonstrated that 1) Victim called Mr. Little; 2) Victim told Mr. Little that he had been jumped and that it had *just happened*; 3) Victim's demeanor was one of being "scared because where he was living he couldn't go back in there because of the guys was still there;" 4) based upon the tone of his voice and speech he appeared to be under the stress of the excitement of that particular event; 5) the sole reason for his phone call was because of the attack he had just experienced; 6) there was nothing to indicate that he was making up what had really happened – "You could hear it is his voice that, you know, something had just really happened to him."; 7) Victim reported Marcus Grant, Cheeze (Appellant), and "Marc Grant's son", and a fourth person he did not name as the culprits; and 8) Victim divulged how the assault took place. (R. p. 59-62).

In light of the totality of circumstances, and in reliance upon *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 644 S.E.2d 684 (2007) and *State v. Whisonant*, 335 S.C. 148, 515 S.E.2d 768 (Ct. App. 1999), the trial court found that the statement by Victim satisfied each of the three elements for admission as an excited utterance exception. Here, the trial court analyzed the matter precisely as the law instructs and its ruling was proper.

Despite the thorough examination of Mr. Little in satisfying the elements of excited utterance, Appellant contests the second element and asserts that Victim could not have been under the excitement of the assault because he “had the mental wherewithal to form a plan of action.” Appellant relies upon a misconception of what “reflective thought” means under the rule. Appellant appears to argue that if the victim of an attack, speaks of the attack immediately after and manages to maintain even the most basic levels of competency regarding his safety and need for help, that such is disqualifying “reflective thought” under the rule. (Brief of Appellant, p. 8-9). Appellant does not cite any authority for such a strained interpretation of the exception, and the suggested application of the rule would run contrary to countless cases decided by our courts and would practically eliminate the exception entirely. (See generally *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 41, 515 S.E.2d 525, 529 (1999) (statement made by victims to the responding police immediately after an attack qualified as excited utterance); *State v. Sims*, 304 S.C. 409, 405 S.E.2d 377 (1991) (statement to police was admissible under res gestae exception when officer proceeded directly to the scene of the attack upon its reporting); *State v. LaCoste*, 347 S.C. 153, 162, 553 S.E.2d 464, 469 (Ct. App. 2001) (bystander who witnessed the crime had the wherewithal and competence to approach officer to report it, despite being upset); *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007) (toddler had the wherewithal to tell her caretakers that her “tooch” hurt and that defendant did it). A suspension of the declarant's process of reflective thought is not the equivalent

of mental hysteria. An out-of-court declarant's recognition of a need for safety is not a disqualifying factor for the excited utterance exception. The rule simply guards against out-of-court speakers who have had a chance to gather themselves and reflect upon the events that had previously excited them, so as to negate the trustworthiness of their spontaneity. Moreover, specific to this case, the testimony of Mr. Little demonstrates that not only had Victim just survived the initial beating, but he remained under the threat of further harm because his assailants were still in his home. Arguably, indeed certainly, the circumstances of the attack demonstrate that Victim was not just reacting to an event that had just ended, he was reacting to an assault and a threat that still existed. This soundly satisfies the excited utterance standard and would invoke the exception of present sense impression as an additional sustaining ground under Rule 803(1).

The record here shows that Victim's call was made just after having been beaten up. The record supports the admission of the evidence and the trial court was well within its discretion to admit the statements.

In the alternative to the above argument, if this Court were to find error on the part of the trial court, such error would be harmless in light of the record. Mr. Little was the first to report Appellant's participation in the initial assault, but multiple other witnesses provided the same essential testimony. In most cases, such information came from either directly witnessing the individuals enter Victim's home or being told about the assault by Shykorie after the fact. Mr. Little's hearsay testimony would be rendered largely cumulative. *State v. Brewer*, 411 S.C. 401, 408–09, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015) (noting that improperly admitted hearsay may be harmless when merely cumulative to other evidence).

II. The trial court was within its discretion to admit the limited number of black and white autopsy photos, as they were admitted for the purpose of contradicting the anticipated self-defense argument, were corroborative and explanatory to the testimony offered by the forensic pathologist, and were inherently lacking in prejudice given their minimal graphic nature.

Issue as it was presented at trial

Detective Billy Sellers took photographs of Victim's wounds while at the hospital after the incident and while present at Victim's autopsy. Detective Sellers confirmed that the photographs taken accurately reflected the injuries testified to by forensic pathologist and the condition of the body following the crime. Initially, the State sought to enter seven different colored photographs. (State's Exhibits 122, and 129-134). (R. p. 292-293; 294). Objection was raised by the defense as to prejudicial effect and to the cumulative nature of the evidence. The trial court then reviewed the photos in question, and shortly thereafter excused the jury so as to hear the extended arguments of counsel. (R. p. 293-294).

Exhibit 122 was admitted and is not the subject of this appeal. The trial court reviewed the six remaining photographs and noted that they "basically just show the entrance wounds of the, I think it is three shots; side, butt and toe. . ." The court then commented that there was a lot of blood on his body, and asked if the pictures show any other injuries other than three entry wounds. (R. p. 294). The trial court distinguished between photos of injuries that relate to the assault and battery by mob charge as having sufficient probative value but initially expressed concern that there was not much probative value to providing photographs of the entrance wounds. (R. p. 295).

The State argued collectively that the photos were relevant for satisfying their burden to prove the elements of the crime, were further explanatory of Dr. Duke's prior testimony⁷, and most

⁷ Normally the State would offer such photographs during the testimony of the forensic pathologist. However, the State noted that these were being introduced through Detective Sellers because there

importantly that the location of the gunshot wounds would go to contest the defense's anticipated self-defense argument. To wit, wounds received to the side and back are relevant and probative for purposes of countering Appellant's self-defense claim of being threatened by Victim, as the photographs help demonstrate Victim was running away and corroborate the testimony from Mr. Brown who described as much. (R. p. 293; 295; 183). The State also noted at trial that one of the photographs is of an injury to Victim's toe and is entirely without prejudice. (R. p. 296).

Given the objection and the court's concerns, the State was willing to reduce its requested number of photographs to 130 (which the State argued as not being bloody and graphic), 132 (wherein the blood "ha[d] been cleaned up a little bit), 133, (a closer up photo of the wound), and 134. That concession was reduced even further to just exhibits 130, 132, and 134. The State also offered the concession of rendering the photos to black and white copies to further reduce any concern over the alleged gruesome nature of the photos. (R. p. 295-296; 300).

The trial court agreed with the State's offer to render the photos in black and white, so that they could be reevaluated, and agreed that the entrance wound photos would have probative value if there was to later be a self-defense argument from the defendant. Defense counsel confirmed that there would be a self-defense argument raised during the trial, but argued that the photos would not be in contrast to a self-defense theory. (R. p. 297-298). Once the photos were rendered in black and white, defense counsel admitted that there was improvement but maintained the objection of significant prejudicial effect.

In final review, the trial court agreed that the black and white versions were less gruesome, and that there was "enough probative value to outweigh any sort of prejudicial effect." That fact,

was some hesitancy from Dr. Duker in testifying to photos she had not taken, and for photos where Victim's face could not be seen. (R. p. 286-297).

coupled with the fact that the State had voluntarily limited its request to three photographs, was sufficient to render the offered evidence admissible. (R. p. 302).

Discussion

The trial court appropriately exercised its discretion in admitting the three autopsy photographs offered by the State. Specifically, the trial court's handling of the objection led to an offer of three total photographs instead of the remaining six, and black and white versions of the photographs were created so as to provide the State with the desired purpose of disproving self-defense while also reducing the already minimal level of gore depicted in the photographs. The trial court was entirely within its discretion to find the photos admissible under Rule 403, SCRE.

Rule 403 sets forth that “[a]lthough relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. . .”. Rule 403, SCRE. “In exercising its discretion on a Rule 403 objection to the admissibility of autopsy photographs, the trial court ‘must balance the unfair prejudice of graphic photos against their probative value.’” *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 608, 759 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013)). “Photographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 703 S.E.2d 226 (2010). “A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” *Id.*

Our Supreme Court has recently weighed in on the inherent tendency of autopsy photographs to cause an emotional reaction on the part of the jury. See *State v. Heyward*, 441 S.C. 484, 501, 895 S.E.2d 658, 667 (2023); *State v. Nelson*, 440 S.C. 413, 891 S.E.2d 508, 511-13 (2023). However, it is important to remember that this “inherent tendency” is not a certainty, and

the risk of emotional reactions by the jury will vary considerably given the actual photographs in question. Unlike previous cases that, depending on the evidentiary necessity, involved far more graphic matters, the injuries depicted in State's Exhibit 130A, 132A, and 134A are fairly benign gunshot wounds that involve very little injured flesh and very little depiction of blood given their black and white renderings. Respondent would therefore argue, as threshold matter, that these pictures simply do not qualify as photos "calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury." As a second threshold argument, these photos are for the most part not traditional autopsy photographs that depict medical procedures being performed on Victim's body.⁸ Importantly, they depict Victim's injuries as they were inflicted, and though fatal, the injuries themselves are visually unimpactful. See *State v. Gray*, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2014) (in affirming the admission of autopsy photographs the Court of Appeals noted that a number of the photos were taken prior to the autopsy even beginning and that "it was important for the jury to see the nature and location of these injuries in order to understand the witnesses' testimony about the fights and the pathologists' testimony about the injuries.").

The State's case against Appellant presented a similarly important basis for the evidence in visually depicting the location of Victim's injuries. It was important that the state corroborate the medical testimony of the forensic pathologist and demonstrate to the jury with photographic evidence where precisely the Victim's injuries were sustained. The location of Victim's gunshot wounds was relevant and highly probative evidence that contradicted Appellant's assertion of self-

⁸ State's Exhibit 130A appears to include some sort of medical tool in the bottom of the photograph. Due in large part to the black and white renderings, it is nearly impossible to tell what that portion of the photograph depicts. The injury in question appears to be in its original state and the body is largely unaltered. This inherently reduces the gruesomeness that can be ascribed to the photo. Defense counsel commented on this briefly, and attempted to argue that he still found this photo disturbing, *but absent a prior viewing of the color photograph*, Respondent argues that this portion of the photo cannot distinguish between alleged gore and deep shadows. (R. p. 301).

defense. While some jurors may be able to decipher the medical jargon and visualize how a bullet struck the Victim, providing a simple photograph of the wound – which in this case shows that he was struck directly in the buttocks and in the side – bolsters the State’s argument to the jury that Victim was running away from danger, not presenting a danger to others. Unlike *State v. Nelson* where only the identity of the shooter was left in dispute (440 S.C. at 417, 891 S.E.2d at 510), the question of Victim’s supposed actions as the aggressor and Appellant’s actions in self-defense were strenuously contested issues between the parties. The issue of self-defense was the crux of the Appellant’s trial strategy. See *State v. Heyward*, 441 S.C. 484, 502, 895 S.E.2d 658, 668 (2023) (noting that defendant not conceding any critical issues at trial rendered the autopsy photos highly probative for purposes of the corroboration of the forensic pathologist’s testimony). The State had every right to present relevant evidence that would contest Appellant’s version of events, and the State should not be prevented from presenting its best case out of over-precaution for juror sensitivity.

Also, beyond the nature of the photographs and their intended purpose, the exercise of discretion and the weighing of the competing arguments for probative value and prejudice was clearly taken with care by the trial court. This is evident from the length of discussion that was held outside the presence of the jury and the various concessions that the State made for the court in its consideration of Rule 403. Contrary to Appellant’s arguments that discount the importance of such concessions, the State’s willingness to limit the number of photographs offered and to substitute black and white versions of the exhibits all factor heavily into the weighing of probative value and prejudice. As argued above, the black and white photographs depict so little gore that Respondent would argue that they fail to even trigger the concerns warned of by our Supreme Court.

The trial court fairly weighed the probative value in contrast to the potential prejudice and found that “there [was] enough probative value to outweigh any sort of prejudicial effect.”⁹ (R. p. 302). Here, the trial court rightly concluded that the probative value outweighs the risk of unfair prejudice, and properly admitted the photos under Rule 403.

In the alternative to the above argument, if this Court were to find error in the admission of the autopsy photographs, such would constitute only harmless error. In light of the evidence presented at trial, the autopsy photos could not be said to have reasonably affected the result of the trial.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the lower court be affirmed.